

Company: Sol Infotech Pvt. Ltd.

Website: www.courtkutchehry.com

STATE BANK OF INDIA (SUBSIDIARY BANKS) ACT, 1959 38 of 1959

[[10th September, 1959,]]

CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1 :- Preliminary

- 1. Short title
- 2. Definitions

CHAPTER 2:-1[Constitution of new Banks and Change of Name of any Subsidiary Bank]

- 3. Establishment of new banks
- 3A. Change of name of a subsidiary Bank
- 4. New banks to be bodies corporate
- 5. Head office and branches of new banks
- 6. Authorised capital of new banks
- 7. Issued capital of new banks
- 8. Reserve fund of the new banks
- 9. Transfer of shares of existing banks to State Bank
- 10. Transfer of undertaking of existing banks to new banks
- 11. Transfer of services of employees of existing banks
- 12. Special provision for transfer of foreign assets

CHAPTER 3:- Compensation

- 13. <u>Compensation to shareholders of existing banks other than the Bank of Patiala</u>
- 14. <u>Compensation payable by the State Bank in respect of the Bank of Patiala the Saurashtra Bank and the Hyderabad Bank</u>
- 15. Constitution of the Tribunal
- 16. Tribunal to have powers of a civil court
- 17. Procedure of the Tribunal

CHAPTER 4:- Shares of the Subsidiary Banks

- 18. Transferability of shares
- 19. Restriction on individual holdings
- 20. Shares to be approved securities
- 21. Register of shareholders
- 22. Trusty not to be entered on the register

CHAPTER 5 :- Management of Subsidiary Banks

- 23. Certain officer to vacate office
- 24. Management
- 25. Composition of the Board of Directors
- 26. Term of office of directors
- 27. <u>Disqualification for directorship</u>
- 28. Vacation of office of directors
- 29. Managing Director
- 30. Remuneration of directors
- 31. Removal from office of director
- 32. Appointment of another person for discharging the duties of 1[managing director] during his absence
- 33. <u>Casual vacancies among directors</u>
- 34. Meetings of the Board of Directors
- 35. Executive committee and other committees

CHAPTER 6:- Business of Subsidiary Banks

- 36. Subsidiary bank to act as agent of the State Bank
- 36A. Subsidiary bank to act as agent of the Reserve Bank
- 37. Other business which a subsidiary bank may transact
- 38. Acquisition of business of other banks
- 38A. <u>Arrangement with subsidiary banks on appointment of Director to prevail</u>

CHAPTER 7:- Acconts and Audit

- 39. Closing of annual accounts
- 40. <u>Disposal of profits</u>
- 41. Audit
- 42. Temporary provision regarding existing auditors
- 43. Returns to be furnished by a subsidiary bank
- 44. General meetings

CHAPTER 8 :- Miscellaneous

- 45. Power to issue directions for removing difficulties
- 46. Observes for existing banks and the Sanrashtsa Bank
- 47. <u>Inspection</u>
- 48. Cost of development programme
- 49. Special provisions regarding existing officers and employees
- 50. Staff of a subsidiary bank
- 5 1 . <u>Establishment of pension and superannuation funds by subsidiary banks</u>
- 52. Obligation as to fidelity and secrecy
- 53. Indemnity of directors
- 54. <u>Defects in appointment or constitution not to invalidate acts or proceedings</u>
- 55. <u>Companies Act, 1956, and Banking Companies Act, 1949, not to apply to certain existing banks</u>
- 56. Continuance of special provisions respecting recovery of loans and advances made by the Bank of Patiala and the State Bank of

Saurashtra

- 57. Bar to liquidation of a subsidiary bank
- 58. <u>Dissolution of existing banks</u>
- 59. Construction of reference to existing banks
- 60. Exercise of powers and functions on behalf of the Reserve Bank
- 61. Protection of action taken under Act
- 62. Power of Central Government to make rules
- 63. Power of the State Bank to make regnlat ions
- 64. Amendment of certain enactments
- 65. Saving

SCHEDULE 1:- THE FIRST SCHEDULE

SCHEDULE 2:- THE SECOND SCHEDULE

SCHEDULE 3:- THE THIRD SCHEDULE

STATE BANK OF INDIA (SUBSIDIARY BANKS) ACT, 1959 38 of 1959

[[10th September, 1959,]]

An Act to provide for the formation of certain Government or Government associated banks as subsidiaries of the State Bank of India and for the constitution, management and control of the subsidiary banks so formed, and for matters connected therewith, or incidental thereto. BE, it enacted by Parliament in the Tenth year of the Republic of India as follows:-

CHAPTER 1 Preliminary

1. Short title :-

This Act may be called THE STATE BANK OF INDIA (SUBSIDIARY BANKS) ACT, 1959.

2. Definitions :-

In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires,-

- (a) "appointed day" means,-
- (i) in relation to an existing bank, the date on which the correspond- ing new bank is constituted under section 3;
- (ii) in relation to a new bank, the date on which that new bank is constituted under section 3;
- (iii) in relation to the Hyderabad Bank, the date on which the amendments to the State Bank of Hyderabad Act, 1956, take effect

under Part VII of the Third Schedule;

- (iv) in relation to the Saurashtra Bank, the date on which the amendments to the Saurashtra State Banks (Amalgamation) Ordinance, 1950, take effect under part V of the Third Schedule;
- (b) "corresponding bank", means,-
- (i) in relation to the State Bank of Bikaner, the Bank of Bikaner, Limited;
- (ii) in relation to the State Bank of Indore, the Bank of Indore, Limited;
- (iii) [Omitted by the State-Associated Banks (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1962 (56 of 1962), S. 3 (1-1-1963);]
- (iv) in relation to the State Bank of Mysore, the Bank of Mysore, Limited;
- (v) in relation to the State Bank of Patiala, the Bank of Patiala,
- (vi) in relation to the State Bank of Travancore, the Travancore Bank, Limited;
- (c) "corresponding new bank" means,-
- (i) in relation to the Bank of Bikaner, Limited, the State Bank of Bikaner;
- (ii) in relation to Bank of Indore, Limited, the State Bank of Indore:
- (iii) [Omitted by the State-Associated Banks (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 1962 (56 of 1962), Section 3 (1-1-1963);]
- (iv) in relation to the Bank of Mysore, Limited, the State Bank of Mysore;
- (v) in relation to the Bank of Patiala, the State Bank of Patiala;
- (vi) in relation to the Travancore Bank, Limited, the State Bank of Travancore;
- (d) "existing bank" means any of the following bank namely;-
- (i) Bank of Bikaner, Limited;
- (ii) Bank of Indore, Limited;
- (iii) [Omited by the State-Associated Banks (Miscellaneous

Provisions) Act, 1962 (56 of 1962), Section 3 (1-1-1963);]

- (iv) Bank of Mysore, Limited;
- (v) Bank of Patiala;
- (vi) Travancore Bank, Limited;
- (e) "Hyderabad Bank" means the Hyderabad State Bank constituted under the Hyderabad State Bank Act, 1950-F, and renamed the State Bank of Hyderabad under Section 3(1) of the State Bank of Hyderabad Act, 1956,
- (f) "new bank" means any of the banks constituted under section 3 .
- (g) "prescribed" means prescribed by regulations made under this Act;
- (h) 'Reserve Bank" means the Reserve Bank of India constituted under the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934;
- (i) "Saurashtra Bank" means the State Bank of Saurashtra constituted under the Saurashtra State Banks (Amalgamation) Ordinance, 1950;
- (j) "State Bank" means the State Bank of Indiaconstituted under the State Bank of India Act, 1955;
- (k) "Subsidiary bank" means any new bank and includes the Hyderabad Bank and Saurashtra Bank;
- (I) "Tribunal" means the Tribunal constituted under section 15.
- ¹ [(m)] "workman" has the meaning assigned to it in the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947.]
- 1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

CHAPTER 2

1[Constitution of new Banks and Change of Name of any Subsidiary Bank]

3. Establishment of new banks :-

With effect from such date as the Central Government may by notification in the Official Gazette, specify in this be- half, there shall be constituted the following new banks, namely:-

- (a) the State Bank of Bikaner;
- (b) the State Bank of Indore;

- 1 (c) Omitted.
- (d) the State Bank of Mysore;
- (e) the State Bank of Patiala;
- (f) the State Bank of Travancore; and different dates may be specified for different new banks.
- 1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

3A. Change of name of a subsidiary Bank :-

- (1) The Central Government after consulting the State Bank and the Reserve Bank may by notification in the Official Gazette, direct that the name of any subsidiary bank shall, with effect from such date as may be specified in this behalf, be changed to any other name and thereupon any reference to that subsidiary bank in this Act or any other law for the time being in force or in any contract, instrument or document shall be con- strued as a reference to that bank by its new name.
- (2) The change in the name of a subsidiary bank under sub-section (1) shall not affect any rights or obligations of that bank or render defective any legal pro- ceedings by or against it, and any legal proceedings which might have been conti- nued or commenced by or against that bank by its former name may be continued by or against it by its new name.]

4. New banks to be bodies corporate :-

- (1) Every new bank shall be a body corporate with perpetual succession and a common seal and shall sue and be sued in its name.
- (2) The body corporate constituting each of the new banks shall consist of the State Bank and other shareholders, if any. for the time being of the new bank.
- (3) Every new bank shall carry on the business of banking and other business in accordance with the provisions of this Act, and shall have power to acquire and hold property, whether movable or immovable, for the purposes of its business and to dispose of the same.

5. Head office and branches of new banks :-

(1) The head office of each of the new banks shall be at such place

as the Central Government may, by notifica- tion in the Official Gazette, from time to time, specify.

(2) Every new bank shall maintain as its branches all branches of the cor- responding bank in existence immediately before the appointed day, and shall not establish any new branch or discontinue any branch except in consultation with the State Bank and with the approval of the Reserve Bank.

6. Authorised capital of new banks :-

- (1) Subject to the provisions of this Act, the authorised capital of the State Bank of Mysore and the State Bank of Travancore shall be rupees two crores each, and the authorised capital of every other new bank shall be rupees one crore.
- (2) The authorised capital of every new bank shall be divided into shares of one hundred rupees each.
- (3) Notwithstanding anything contained in this section, the State Bank may, with the approval of the Reserve Bank, authorise a new bank to increase or reduce its authorised capital:

Provided that where the authorised capital is so increased, the shares issued shall be of the denomination specified in sub-section (2).

7. Issued capital of new banks :-

- (1) On the appointed day, the issued capital of a new bank shall consist of such amount divided into fully paid-up shares of hundred rupees each, as the State Bank may, with the approval of the Reserve Bank, fix.
- (2) All shares in the issued capital of a new bank shall on the appointed day, stand allotted to the State Bank.
- (3) The State Bank shall, as soon as may be, after the determination, if any, by the Tribunal, of the amount of compensation payable in respect of an existing bank, consider whether any increase in, or reduction of, the issued capital of the corresponding new bank as fixed under sub-section (1), by way of adjustment, or transfer from, or to the reserves of such bank, or in any other manner, is neces- sary or expedient and may, thereafter with the approval of the Reserve Bank, direct that bank to increase or reduce its issued capital.

- (4) Without prejudice to the provisions contained in sub-section
- (3), a new bank, may, with the approval of the State Bank and the Reserve Bank, increase from time to time, its issued capital and the capital so increased shall consist of fully paid-up shares to be issued in such manner as the State Bank may, with the approval of the Reserve Bank, direct.
- (5) No increase or reduction in the issued capital of a new bank shall be made in such a manner that the State Bank holds at any time less than fifty-five per cent of the issued capital of that bank.

8. Reserve fund of the new banks :-

- (1) Every new bank shall establish a reserve fund which, subject to the provisions of Section 7(3) shall-
- (a) on the appointed day, consist of such sum as the State Bank, with the approval of the Reserve Bank, may determine; and
- (b) after the appointed day, consist of the sum aforesaid together with such further sums as may be transferred to the reserve fund by the new bank out of its annual net profits before declaring a dividend.
- (2) The State Bank shall, as soon as may be after the determination, if any, of the amount of compensation by the Tribunal, in respect of an existing bank, consider whether any increase in or reduction of, the reserve fund of the cor- responding new bank, by way of adjustment, by transfer from or to any account, or towards provision for bad and doubtful debts, depreciation of any assets or contingencies, or for any other purpose, is necessary, and may, thereafter, with the approval of the Reserve Bank, direct that bank to so increase or reduce its reserve fund.

9. Transfer of shares of existing banks to State Bank :-

On the constitution of a new bank, all shares in the capital of the corresponding bank, where such corresponding bank has a share capital, shall stand transferred to, and shall vest in, the State Bank, free of all trusts, liabilities and encumbrances.

10. Transfer of undertaking of existing banks to new banks :-

(1) Subject to the other provisions contained in this Act, when a new bank is constituted, the undertaking of the corresponding bank

shall stand transferred to, and vest in, the new bank.

- (2) The undertaking of the corresponding bank referred to in subsection (1) shall be deemed to include all rights, powers, authorities and privileges and all property, movable and immovable, including cash balances, reserve funds invest- ments and all other interests and rights in, or arising out of, such property and all books accounts and documents relating thereto as may be in the possession of that bank immediately before the appointed day, and shall also be deemed to include all debts, liabilities and obligations of whatever kind, then existing of that bank.
- (3) Without prejudice to the other provisions contained in this Act, all contracts, deeds, bonds, agreements, powers of attorney, grants of legal representation and other instruments of whatever nature, subsisting or having effect immediately before the appointed day and to which any existing bank is a party, or which are in favour of that bank, shall be of full force and effect against or in favour of the corresponding new bank, as the case may be, and may be enforced or acted upon as fully and effectually as if Instead of the existing bank the corresponding new bank had been a party thereto or as if they had been issued in favour of the corresponding new bank.
- (4) If on the appointed day, any suit, appeal or other legal proceeding of whatever nature by or against an existing bank is pending, the same shall not abate be discontinued or be in any way prejudicially affected by reason of transfer to the corresponding new bank of the undertaking of the existing bank, or of anything contained in this Act, but the suit, appeal or other proceeding may be continued, prosecuted and enforced by or against the corresponding new bank.

11. Transfer of services of employees of existing banks :-

(1) Save an other- wise provided in this Act, every empolyee of an existing bank in the employment of that bank immediately before the appointed day, shall, on and from that day, become an employee of the corresponding new bank and shall hold his office or service therein by the same tenure, at the same remuneration and upon the same, terms and conditions and with the same rights and privileges as to pension, gratuity and other matters as he would have held the same on the appointed day, if the undertaking of the existing bank had not been transferred to and vested in the cor-

responding new bank and shall continue to do so unless and until his employment in that bank is terminated or until his remuneration or other terms and conditions of service are revised or altered by the corresponding new bank under, or in pur- suance of, any law, or in accordance with any provision which, for the time being governs, his service: Provided that nothing contained in this subsection shall apply to an employee of the bank of Patiala who holds a civil post under the State of Punjab unless, prior to the appointed day, he has intimated his consent to become an employee of the State Bank of Patiala by notice in writing, given to the Government of that State through the Bank of Patiala.

- (2) Any person who, on the appointed day, is entitled to, or is in receipt of, a pension or other superannuation or compassionate allowance or other benefit from an existing bank or from any provident, pension or other fund or from any authority administering such fund, shall be entitled to bepaid by, and to receive from, the corresponding new bank or any provident, pension or other fund or from any authority administering such fund, the same pension, allowance or benefit, so long as he observes the conditions on which the pension, allowance or benefit was granted, and if any question arises whether he has so observed such conditions, the question shall be determined by the State bank and its decision thereon shall be final.
- (3) For the persons who immediately before the appointed day are the trustees of, or the members of any authority administering, any fund constituted for the benefit of the employees of an existing bank, there shall be substituted as trustees or members such persons as the State Bank may, by general or special order, specify.
- (4) Notwithstanding anything contained in the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947 or any other law or in any agreement for the time being in force, the transfer from an existing bank of the services of any officer or employee of that bank to the cor- responding new bank in terms of this section shall not entitle any such officer or employee, to any compensation to which he would, but for this provision, have been entitled under any such law or agreement and no claim in respect of such compensations shall be entertained by any court, tribunal or other authority.

12. Special provision for transfer of foreign assets :-

- (1) If, accord ing to the laws of any country outside India, the provisiors of this Act by themselves are not effective to tarnsfer or vest any asset or liability situated in that country which forms part of the undertaking of an existing bank to, or in, the corresponding new bank the affairs of the existing bank in relation to such asset or liability shall, on and from the appointed day, stand, entrusted to the ¹[managing director] for the time being of the corresponding new bank and the ¹[managing director] may exercise all powers and do all such acts and things as are exercised or done by the existing bank for the purpose of effectively winding up the affairs of that bank.
- (2) The ¹[managing director] of the corresponding new bank shall, in exer- cise of the powers conferred on him by sub-section (1), take all such steps as may be required by the laws of any such country outside India for the purpose of effecting such transfer or vesting, and in connection therewith the ¹ [managing director] may either himself or through any person authorised by him in this behalf, realise any assets and discharge any liability of the existing bank and transfer the net proceeds thereof to the corresponding new bank.
- (3) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (1) or sub-section (2), on and from the appointed day, no person shall make any claim or demand or take any proceeding in India against any existing bank or any person acting in its name or on its behalf except in so far as may be necessary for enforcing the pro-visions of this section or except in so far as it relates to any offence committed by such person.
- [(4) For the purposes of this section,-
- (a) "corresponding new bank" means in relation to the Bank of Jaipur Limited, the institution constituted under section 3 as the State Bank of Bikaner;
- (b) "existing bank" includes the Bank of Jaipur Limited.
- 1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

CHAPTER 3
Compensation

13. Compensation to shareholders of existing banks other than the Bank of Patiala :-

- (1) Every person who and any State Government which immediately before the appointed day is registered as a holder of shares in the books of an existing bank shall be given by the State Bank such compensation in respect of the transfer to the State Bank of the shares in the capital of that bank as is deter- mined in accordance with the principles contained in the First Schedule.
- (2) The amount of compensation to be given in accordance with the princi- ples contained in the First Schedule shall be determined by the first instance by the State Bank, in consultation with the Reserve Bank, and shall be offered by it to all those to whom compensation is payable under sub-section (1) in full satis- faction thereof.
- (3) If the amount of compensation offered by the State Bank in terms of sub-section (2) is not acceptable to any shareholder of an existing bank, such shareholder may before such date as may be notified by the Central Government in the Official Gazette, request the Central Government, in writing to have the matter referred to the Tribunal.
- (4) If, before the date notified under sub-section (3), the Central Govern- ment receives request, in terms of that sub-section, from not less than one-fourth in number of the shareholders, holding not less than one-fourth in value of the paid-up share capital of the existing bank, the Central Government shall have the matter referred to the Tribunal for decision.
- (5) If, before the date notified under sub-section (3). the Central Govern- ment does not receive requests as provided in that subsection, the amount of compensation offered by the State Bank, and where a reference has been made to the Tribunal, the amount determined by it, shall be the compensation payable under sub-sec. (1) and shall be final and binding on all parties concerned.
- (6) Subject to the provisions of the succeeding sub-section the amount of compensation shall be paid,-
- (a) if the shareholder has not applied for shares of the corresponding new bank in accordance with the provisions of subsection (7), by a cheque drawn on the State Bank; and
- (b) if he has applied for share of the corresponding new bank in accordance with the provisions of that sub-section, in shares of the corresponding new bank to the extent of the value of such shares

allotted to him and the balance by a cheque drawn on the State Bank.

- (7) Any shareholders of an existing bank to whom compensation is payable under this section may, before the expiry of three months from the date of the final determination of the amount of such compensation under sub-section (5), or such extended period as the Static Bank may think fit in any particular case to allow, apply to the State Bank for the transfer to him of shares in the capital of the corresponding new bank in lieu of such compensation or part thereof; and for the puposes of such transfer, the value of each share of the corresponding new bank shall be such as may be determined in this behalf by the State Bank with the approval of the Reserve Bank.
- (8) On receipt of an application under sub-section (7), the State Bank shall issued to the corresponding new bank a warrant, in the form specified in the rules made under this Act, directing it to transfer in favour of the person specified in the warrant such number of shares as may be allotted to the applicant in accordance with sub-sections (9) and (10), out of the shares in the capital of that bank standing allotted to the State Bank under the provisions of this Act, and the corresponding new bank shall be bound to comply with such warrant.
- (9) A shareholder of an existing bank who has applied for sharee in the capital of the corresponding new bank shall be allotted-
- (a) such number of shares, having such total face value as would bear to forty-five per cent. of the issued capital of the corresponding new bank the same proportion as the paid-up value of his shares in the capital of the existing bank in respect of which he is paid compensation bears to the total paid-up capital of that bank; and
- (b) if the total number of shares allotted under clause (a) to all applicants is less than forty-five per cent. of the issue capital of the corresponding new bank, such number of additional shares as the State Bank may deem fit having regard to the provisions of this Act, the circumstances of the case and the desirability of securing as wide a distribution of shares among as large a number of shareholders as possible.

Explanation.-For the purpose of determining the number of shares under this sub-sections fractions of a share shall be disregarded.

- (10) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (9), an allotment of shares under that sub-section shall not be made in such a manner that the State Bank holds at any time less than fifty-five per cent. of the issued capital of the corresponding new bank.
- (11) A warrant issued by the State Bank under sub-section (8) shall not be liable to duty under the Indian Stamp Act, 1899.
- (12) Nothing contained in this section shall affect the rights inter se between the holder of any share in an existing bank, and any other person who may have an interest in such share and such other person shall beentitled to enforce his interest against the compensation awarded to the holder of such share, but not against the State Bank.
- ¹ [(13) For the purposes of this section,-
- (a) "corresponding new bank" does not include the State Bank of Patiala and means in relation to the Bank of Jaipur Limited the institution constituted under section 3 as the State Bank of Bikaner;
- (b) "existing bank" includes the Bank of Jaipur Limited, but does not in- cludes the Bank of Patiala.]
- 1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

14. Compensation payable by the State Bank in respect of the Bank of Patiala the Saurashtra Bank and the Hyderabad Bank:

- (1) The State Government of Punjab in respect of the Bank of Patiala, the ¹[State Government of Gujarat] in respect of the Saurashtra Bank and the Reserve Bank in respect of the Hyderabad Bank, shall be given, by reason of the provisions of this Act of the amendments contained in Part V or Part VII of the Third Schedule, such compensation by the State Bank as is determined in accordance with the principles contained in the First Schedule.
- (2) The amount of compensation to be given in accordance with the princi- ples contained in the First Schedule shall be determined in the first instance by the State Bank, and shall be offered by it to the State Government of Punjab, the 1 [State Government of Gujarat], or the Reserve Bank, as the case may be, in full

satisfaction of the compensation payable under sub-section (1): Provided that in determining the amount of compensation to be offered to the State Government of Punjab or the 1 [State Government of Gujarat), the State Bank shall consult the Reserve Bank.

- (3) If the amount of compensation offered by the State Bank in terms of sub-section (2) is not acceptable to the State Government of Punjab, the ¹[State Government of Gujarat] or the Reserve Bank, as the case may be, the State Gov- ernment concerned or the Reserve Bank, may before such date as may be notified by the Central Government in the Official Gazette, request the Central Government to have the matter referred to to the Tribuanl for decision, and where any such request is received, the Central Government shall refer the matter accordingly.
- (4) If before the date notified under sub-section (3), the State Government of Punjab, the 1 [State Government of Gujarat] or the Reserve Bank as the case may be has not made any such request, the amount of compensation offered by the State Bank, and where a reference has been made to the Tribunal the amount determined by it, shall be the compensation payable under sub-section (1) and shall be final and binding on all parties concerned.
- (5) The amount of compensation shall be aid by a cheque drawn on the Reserve Bank.
- 1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

15. Constitution of the Tribunal :-

- (1) The Central Government may for the purposes of this Act, constitute a Tribunal which shall consist of a Chairman and two other members.
- (2) The Chairman shall be a person who is, or has been, a Judge of a High Court or has been a Judge of the Supreme Court and of the two other members, one shall be a person, who, in the opinion of the Central Government, has had experience of commercial banking and the other shall be a person who is a chartered accountant within the meaning of the Chartered Accountants Act, 1949.
- (3) If, for any reason, a vacancy occurs in the office of the Chairman or any other member of the Tribunal, the Central Government shall fill the vacancy by appointing another person

thereto in accordance with the provisions of sub-section (2). and a n y proceeding may be continued before the Tribunal so reconstituted from the stage at which the vacancy occurred.

(4) The Tribunal may, for the purpose of determining any compensation payable under this Act, choose one or more persons having special knowledge or experience of any relevant matter to assist it in the determination of such compensation.

16. Tribunal to have powers of a civil court :-

- (1) The Tribunal shall have the powers of a civil court while trying a suit under the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908, in respect of the following matters, namely:-
- (a) summoning and enforcing the attendance of any person and examining him on oath;
- (b) requiring the discovery and production of documents;
- (c) receiving evidence on affidavits; and
- (d) issuing commissions for the elimination of witness or documents.
- (2) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (1) or in any other law for the time being in force the Tribunal shall not compel the Reserve Bank, the State Bank or any subsidiary bank-
- (a) to produce any books of account or other documents which the Reserve Bank, the State Bank or the subsidiary bank claims to be of a confiden- tial nature;
- (b) to make any such books or documents part of the record of the pro- ceedings before the Tribunal; or
- (c) to give inspection of any such books or documents to any party before it or to any other person.

17. Procedure of the Tribunal :-

- (1) The Tribunal shall have power to regulate its own procedure.
- (2) The Tribunal may hold the whole or any part of its enquiry in camera.
- (3) Any clerical or arithmetical mistake in any order of the Tribunal or any error arising therein from any accidental slip or omission may at any time be corrected by the Tribunal either of its own

motion or on the application of any of the parties.

CHAPTER 4

Shares of the Subsidiary Banks

18. Transferability of shares :-

- (1) Save as otherwise provided in sub-section (2), the shares of a subsidiary bank shall be freely transferable.
- (2) Nothing contained in sub-section (1) shall entitle the State Bank to transfer any shares held by it in any subsidiary bank if such transfer will result in reducing the shares held by it to less than fifty-five per cent. of the issued capital of that subsidiary bank.

19. Restriction on individual holdings :-

- (1)No person shall be registered as a shareholder in respect of any shares in a subsidiary bank held by him, whether in his own name or jointly with any other person, in excess of two hundred shares, or be entiled to payment of any dividend on the excess shares held by him, or to exercise any of the rights of a shareholder in respect of such excess shares other- wise than for the purpose selling them :- Provided that nothing contained in this sub-section shall apply to-
- (a) the State Bank;
- (b) a State Government;
- (c) a Corporation;
- (d) an insurer as defined in the Insurance Act, 1938.
- (e) a local authority;
- (f) a co-operative society;
- (g) a trustee of a public or private religious or charitable trust;
- (h) a shareholder of an existing bank who is allotted any shares under sub- section (9) of section 13;
- (2) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (1), no person refer- red to in the proviso to that sub-section, other than the State Bank, shall be entit- led to exercise voting rights in respect of any shares held by such person 1 [in excess of one percent,] of the issued capital of the subsidiary bank concerned.

1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

20. Shares to be approved securities :-

Notwithstanding anything contained in the Acts hereinafter mentioned in this section, the shares of a subsidiary bank shall be deemed to be included among the securities enumerated in S.20 of the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and also to be approved securities for the purposes of Insurance Act, 1938, and the Banking Companies Act, 1949.

21. Register of shareholders :-

Every subsidiary bank shall keep atits head office a register, in one or more books, of the shareholders and shall enter therein the following particulars so far as they may be available-

- (i) the names, addresses and occupations, if any, of the shareholders and a statement of the shares held by each shareholders, distinguishing each share by its denoting number;
- (ii) the date on which each person is so entered as a shareholder;
- (iii) the date on which any person ceases to be a shareholder; and
- (iv) such other particulars as may be prescribed.

["Provided that nothing in this section shall apply to the shares held with a depository."]["Provided that nothing in this section shall apply to the shares held with a depository."]

22. Trusty not to be entered on the register :-

Notwithstanding anything contained in section 19, no notice of any trust, express, implied or constructive shall be entered on the register of shareholders of a subsidiary bank or be receivable by it in respect of its shares.

Provided that nothing in this section shall apply to a depository in respect of shares held by it as a registered owner on behalf of the beneficial owners.

Explanation.-For the purposes of Section 21, Section 21-A and this section, the expressions 'beneficial owner', 'depository' and 'registered owner' shall have the meanings respectively assigned to them in clauses (a), (e) and (j) of sub-section (1) of Section 2 of the Depositories Act, 1996 (22 of 1996).

CHAPTER 5

Management of Subsidiary Banks

23. Certain officer to vacate office :-

Every person holding office as chair- man, director, member of the Board of Management (including a member of a local or advisory committee), managing director, general manager, manager (other than manager of a branch), deputy managing director, deputy general manager assistant general manager or adviser, as the case may be, in an existing bank (other than the Bank of Patiala), the Hyderabad Bank and the Saurashtra Bank immediately before the appointed day, shall be deemed to have vacated that office on the appointed day, and notwithstanding anything, contained in this Act or in any other law for the time being in force or in any agreement or contract, such person shall not be entitled to any compensation for the loss of office or for the prematare termination of any agreement or con-tract relating to his employment except such pension, compensation or other benefit as the corresponding new bank, the Hyderabad Bank or the Saurashtra Bank, as the case may be, may, with the approval of the State Bank, grant to him, having, regard to what he would have received if this Act had not been passed and if his employment had ceased on the appointed day in the ordinary course: Provided that nothing in this section shall be deemed to prevent any person who has so vacated his office in any of the said banks from being renominated or reappointed to any office in a subsidiary bank in accordance with the provisions of this Act.

24. Management :-

- (1) The State bank may, from time to time, give directions and instructions to a subsidiary bank in regard to any of its affairs and business, and that bank shall be bound to comply with the directions instructions so given.
- (2) Subject to any such directions and instructions, the general superin- tendence and conduct of the affairs and business of a subsidiary bank shall as from the appointed day, vest in a Board of Directors who may, with the assistance of the ¹ [managing director], exercise all powers and do all such acts and things as may be exercised or done by that bank.
- (3) The Board of Directors of a subsidiary bank shall, in discharging its functions under this Act, act on business principles, regard being had to public interest.
- 1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

25. Composition of the Board of Directors :-

- (1) Subject to the provisions of sub-section (2) the Board of Directors of a subsidiary bank shall consist of the following;-
- (a) the chairman for the time being of the State Bank, ex officio;
- (aa) the managing director appointed under Section 289(1) or under section 32;]
- (b) an officer of the Reserve Bank, to be nominated by that Bank:
- (c) not more than five directors to be nominated by the State Bank of whom not more than three shall be officers of that bank:
- (ca) one director from among the employees of the subsidiary bank, who are workmen, to be appointed by the Central Government in the manner provided in the rules made under this Act;
- (cb) one director, from among such of the employees of the subsidiary bank as are not workmen, to be appointed by the Central Govern- ment in the manner provided in rules made under this Act.]
- (d) two directors to be elected in the prescribed manner by the share- holders, other than the State Bank; Provided that if the total amount of the holdings of all such share- holder registered in the books of the subsidiary bank three months before the date fixed for election is below five per cent, of the total issued capital, or if there are no shareholders other than State Bank registered on the books of the subsidiary bank, the directors to be elected by the shareholders shall be nominated by the State Bank and such directors shall, for the purposes of this Act, be deemed to be directors elected under this clause.
- (e) a director, if any, to be nominated by the Central Government in consultation with the State Bank.
- (2) Notwithstanding anything contained in clause (d) of sub-section (1), on the first constitution of the Board of Directors, the directors referred to in the said clause shall be appointed by the State Bank and the directors so appointed shall for the purposes of this Act, be deemed to have been elected within the meaning of the said clause.
- (3) If, for any reason, a director of a subsidiary bank nominated

under clause (b) of sub-section (1) is unable to exercise his functions or to discharge his duties as such director, the Reserve Bank may nominate any its officers to exercise all the functions and to discharge all the duties of such director whenever he is so unable to exercise his functions or discharge his duties and the officer so nominated shall for all purposes of this Act be deemed to be a director of the subsidiary bank.

- (4) An officer of the Reserve Bank or the State Bank may be nominated as a director of a subsidiary bank by virtue of his office.
- (5) The directors nominated under sub-section (2) shall retire at the expiry of one year after the appointed day.
- (6) Any nomination or appointment of a director made by the State Bank under this Act shall, except in so far as it relates to an Officer of that bank, be in consultation with the Reserve Bank.

26. Term of office of directors :-

- (1) Adirector of a subsidiary bank, if nominated underclause (b) of Section 25(1) or if an officer of the State Bank and nominated under clause (c)orifan officer of the Central Government and nominated under clause (e) of that sub-section, shall hold office during the pleasure of the authority nominating him.
- (2) Subject to the provisions contained in section 25 , a director nominated under clause (c) of sub-section (1) of that section and not being an officer of the State Bank, a director elected under clause (d) and a director, not being an officer of the Central Government, nominated under clause (e) , of that sub-section, shall hold office for three years 24[***], as the case maybe.
- ²⁵[(2A) A director apponited under (ca) or clause (cb) of Section 25(1) shall hold office for such term, not exceeding three years, as the Central Government may specify ²⁶ "and thereafter until his successor shall have been duly appointed", and shall be eligible for re-appointment.]
- (3) A director of a subsidiary bank vacating his office shall be eligible for renomination or re-election, as the case may be.

In the State Bank of India (Subsidiary Banks) Act, 1959, In Section 26, in sub-sec. (2), the words "and thereafter until his successor is duly elected" shall be omitted, by the Banking Companies (Acquisition and Transfer of Undertakings) and Financial

Institutions Laws (Amendment) Act, 2006.

Existing Banks of these Banks were dissolved w.e.f. 8-1-1966-See S.O., 88, Gaz. of Ind., 8-1-1966, Pt. II, S. 3 (ii), p. 96.

In the State Bank of India (Subsidiary Banks) Act, 1959, In Section 26, in sub-sec. (2A), for the words "and thereafter until his successor shall have been duly nominated or appointed", the words "and thereafter until his successor shall have been duly appointed" shall be substituted, by the Banking Companies (Acquisition and Transfer of Undertakings) and Financial Institutions Laws (Amendment) Act, 2006.

27. Disqualification for directorship :-

- (1) A person shall be disqualified to be a director of a subsidiary bank, if-
- (a) he holds the office of director, provisional director, promotor, agent or manager of any banking company or a banking company for the formation of which a prospectus has been issued; or
- (b) he is a salaried officer of Government; or
- (c) he has been removed or dismissed from the service of Government or a local authority or a corporation or a company in which not less than fifty-one per cent. of the paid-up share capital is held by Government; or
- (d) he holds any office of profit under the subsidiary banks 1 [other than the office of the managing director]: or
- (da) in the case of a director appointed under clause (ca) or clause (cb) of Section 25(1),-
- (i) he is not serving in the subsidiary bank or has not been serving in it for a continuous period of at least five years; and
- (ii) he is of such age that there is a likelihood of his attaining the age of superannuation during his term of office as a director; or]
- (e) he is, or at any time has been, adjudicated an insolvent or has sus-pended payment of his debts or has compounded with his creditors; or
- (f) he is of unsound mind and stands so declared by a competent court; or
- (g) he is, or has been, convicted of any offence which, in the opinion of the Central Government, involves moral turpitude; or

- (h) in the case of an elected director, he is not registered as a holder of unencumbered shares in the subsidiary bank of a nominal value of at least one thousand rupees; Provided that the disqualification mentioned in clause (b) shall not apply to an officer of the Central Government, nominated as a director under clause (e) of Section 25(1): [Provided further that in the case of a director appointed under clause (ca) or Cl. (cb) of Section 25(1), the disqualification mentioned in clause (d) shall not operate; Provided also that] in the case of a director deemed to have been elected on the first constitution of the Board of Director, the disqualification mentioned in clause (h) shall not operate for a period of six months from bis becoming such director.
- (2) No two persons who are partners of the same firm or are directors of the same private company or one of whom is an agent of the other holds a power of attorney from a firm of which the other is a partner may be directors of a subsidiary bank at the same time.
- (3) The nomination or election, as a director of any person who is a member of either House of Parliament or the Legislature of a State shall be void unless within two months of the date of nomination or election as such director, he ceases to be a member of Parliament or the Legislature of the State, and if any director is elected or nominated as a member of Parliament or the Legislature of a State, he shall cease to be a director as from the date of such election or nomination, as the case may be.
- (4) Nothing contained in clause (d)of sub-section (1) shall bedeemed to preclude any person from being a director of a subsidiary bank by reason only of his being a legal or technical adviser of that bank.
- (5) In this section,-
- (a) "banking company has the same meaning as in the Banking Companies Act, 1949;
- (b) "manager" means the chief executive officer, by whatever name called of a banking company;
- (c) "private company" has the same meaning as in the Companies Act, 1956.
- 1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

28. Vacation of office of directors :-

If a director of a subsidiary bank-

- (a) is, or has become, subject to any of the disqualifications mentioned in S. 27; or
- (b) resigns his office by giving notice in writing under his hand, in the case of a nominated director to the State Bank, and in the case of an elected director to the Board of Directors of the subsidiary bank, and his resignation is accepted, or
- (c) is absent without leave of the Board of Directors for more than three consecutive meetings thereof: his seat on the Board of Directors shall thereupon become vacant; Provided that nothing in Cl. (b) or Cl. (c) shall apply to a director referred to in clause (b) of Section 25(1) or to a director, be- ing an officer of the State Bank, nominated under clause (c) or to a director, being an officer or the Central Government nominated under clause (e) of that subsection.

29. Managing Director :-

- (1) The State Bank shall, after consulting the Board of Directors of subsidiary bank, and with the approval of the Reserve Bank, appoint a 1[managing director] for that subsidiary bank: Provided that in the case of the first appointment of the 1[managing director no such consultation with the Board of Directors of the subsidiary bank shall be necessary.
- (2) Subject to the general control of the Board of Directors, the day- to-day administration and management of the affairs of a subsidiary bank shall vest in the 1[managing director] and the 1[managing director] shall exer- cise such other powers and perform such other duties as may be delegated to him by the Board of Directors.
- (3) The 1[managing director] of subsidiary bank-
- (a) shall devote his whole time to the affairs of that bank: Provided that 1[managing director] of the subsidiary bank may with the approval of the State Bank and the Reserve Bank, be a director of any other institution;
- (b) shall hold office for such term not exceeding four years and subject to such conditions as the State Bank may, with the approval of the Reserve Bank, specify at the time of his

appointment.

- (c) shall receive such salary and allowances as may be determined by the State Bank with the approval of the Reserve Bank.
- (4) The 1[managing director] vacating his office shall be eligible for reappointment. The State Bank may, with the approval of the reserve Bank for any suffi- cient reason, remove from office the 1[managing director] of a subsidiary bank: Provided that no 1[managing director] shall be removed from office unless be has been given an opportunity of showing cause against such removal.

30. Remuneration of directors :-

Adirector of a subsidiary bank shall be paid for attending the meetings of the Board of Directors or of any of its committees and for attending to any other business of the subsidiary bank such fees and allowances as may be prescribed; Provided that no fee shall bepayable to the chairman of the State Bank ¹ [or the managing director of the subsidiary bank] or any other director who is a wholetime officer of the Central Government or the Reserve Bank or the State Bank.

1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

31. Removal from office of director :-

- (1) The State Bank may, with the approval of the Reserve Bank for any sufficient reason, remove from office a director nominated under clause (c) of Section 25(1) and not being an officer of the State Bank.
- (2) The Central Government may, in consultation with the State Bank, for any sufficient reason, remove from office a director [appointed under clause (ca) of clause (cb) or nominated under clause (e)] of Section 25(1) and not being an officer of the Central Government.
- (3) Any director elected under clause (d) of Section 25(1), may be removed from office-
- (a) by the State Bank, with the approval of the Reserve Bank, if at the time of the removal there are no shareholders other than the State Bank registered in the books of the subsidiary bank concerned;
- (b) by a resolution passed by a majority of the votes of such

shareholders holding in the aggregate not less than one-half of the share capital held by all such shareholders: Provided that if the total amount of the holdings of all shareholders, other than the State Bank, registered in the books of the subsidiary bank, on the date of the reoslution, is below five per cent. of the total issued capital, the resolution shall not have effect unless confirmed by the State Bank.

(4) No director shall be removed from office under sub-section (1) or sub- section (2) unless he has given an opportunity of showing cause against such removal.

32. Appointment of another person for discharging the duties of 1[managing director] during his absence :-

If the 1 [managing director] of a subsidiary bank is rendered incapable of discharging his duties by reason of infirmity or otherwise or is absent on leave or otherwise in circumstances not involving the vacation of his office the State Bank may appoint another person to officiate for the 1 [managing director] until the date on which the 1[managing director] resumes duty.

1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

33. Casual vacancies among directors :-

- (1) Where any vacancy occurs be- fore the expiry of the term of office of adirector of a subsidiary bank [other than the managing director or a director appointed under clause (ca) or clause (cb) of Section 25(1), the vacancy shall be filled-
- (a) in the case of a director nominated under clause (c) of Section 25(1), not being an officer of the State Bank, by nomination by the State Bank;
- (b) in the case of a director elected under clause (d) of Section 25(1), by election or where the proviso to that clause is applicable, by nomination by the State Bank.

Section 25(1) who is not dis- qualified under section 27;

- (c) in the case of a director nominated under clause (e) of Section 25(1), not being an officer of the Central Government, by nomination by the Government in consultation with the State Bank.
- (1) A person nominated or elected or co-opted, as the case may be [under sub-section (1)] shall hold office for the unexpired portion of the term of his predecessor.

[(3) Where any vacancy occurs before the expiry of the term of office of a director appointed under clause (ca) or clause (cb) of Section 25(1), such vacancy shall be filled in accordance with the said clause (ca) or, as the case may be, clause (cb), and the director so appointed shall hold office for the period specified under Section 26(2A).]

34. Meetings of the Board of Directors :-

- (1) The Board of Directors of a subsidiary bank shall meet at such time and place and shall observe such rules of procedure in regard to the transaction of business at its meetings as may be prescribed.
- (2) The chairman of the State Bank shall preside at every meeting of the Board of Directors of a subsidiary bank and, in his absence such one of the direc- tors as may generally or in relation to any particular meeting be authorised by the chairman in this behalf shall preside; and in the absence of the chairman and also failing such authorisation, the directors of the subsidiary bank present at the meeting shall elect one from among themselves to preside at the meeting.

Explanation.-For the purposes of this sub-section, "absence from a meet- ing" means non-attendance for any reason whatsoever at the meeting or any part of the meeting during which any business is transacted.

- (3) All questions at a meeting of the Board of Directors of a subsidiary bank shall be decided by a majority of the votes of the directors present, and in case of equality of votes, the person presiding at the meeting shall have a second or casting vote.
- (4) Where any of the directors specified in clauses (a) and (b) of Section 15(1) or any of the directors, being an officer of the State Bank speci- fied in clause (c) of that sub-section is unable to attend any meeting the Board of Directors of a subsidiary bank, and the State Bank or any other such director as may be present at the meeting considers that the State Bank would not be ade- quately or effectively represented at such meeting by reason of the absence of any such director, the State Bank or the director present may give notice in writing to that subsidiary bank-
- (i) that the meeting should be adjourned to such date amay be indicated in the notice; or

- (ii) that any matter, action, step or proceeding proposed to be considered taken or carried out at the meeting, should not be so considered taken or carried out; or
- (iii) that no decision should not be taken at that meeting on any such matter, action, step or proceeding;
- (5) A director of a subsidiary bank who is directly or indirectly concerned or interested in any contract, loan, arrangement or proposal, entered into or pro- posed to be entered into or made by or on behalf of the subsidiary bank shall, at the earliest possible opportunity, disclose the nature of his inteset to the Board of Directors of that bank, and any such director shall not be present at any meeting of the Board of Directors when any such contract, loan, arrangement or proposal is discussed, unless his presence is required by the other directors for the purpose of eliciting information and where any director is so required to be present, he shall not vote on any such contract, loan, arrangement or proposal: ¹[Provided that nothing contained in this sub-section shall apply to such director by reason only of his being-
- (i) a shareholder (other than a director) holding not more than two percent. of the paid-up capital in any public company as defined in Companies Act, 1956, or any corporation established by or under any law for the time being in force in India or any co-operative society, with which or to which the subsidiary bank has entered into or made, or proposes to enter into or make, a contract, loan, or arrangement or proposal; or
- (ii) a director of the State Bank or of any other subisidary bank being a director under clause (a) or clause (e) of Section 25(1) or being an officer of the Reserve Bank or the State Bank nominated under clause (b) or clause (c) of that sub-section]; 1[or]
- ¹ [(iii) an officer or other employee of the State Bank, or any other institution, if he is the managing director appointed under Section 29(1) or under section 32; or
- (iv) an officer or other employee of the subsidiary bank if he is a director appointed under clause (ca) or clause (cb) of sub-section (1) of the section 25.]
- (6) A copy of the minutes of every meeting of the Board of Directors of a subsidiary bank, together with copies of all connected papers, shall beforwarded to the State Bank and the Reserve Bank

as soon as possible.

1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

35. Executive committee and other committees :-

- (1) There shall be an execu- tive committee in respect of a subsidiary bank consisting of such directors as may be prescribed: Provided that if any such director being an officer of the State Bank and nominated by that bank under clause (c) of Section 25(1), is for any reason unable to exercise his functions or to discharge his duties in relation to the executive committee, the State Bank may depute any of its officer to exercise all the functions and to discharge all the duties of such director in relation to the executive committee whenever such director is so unable to exercise his functions or discharge his duties; and the officer so deputed shall, for all purposes of this Act, in so far as it applies to the executive committee, be deemed to be a direc- tor of the subsidiary bank.
- (2) Subject to any regulations made under this Act, the exective committee may deal with any matter within the competence of the Board of Directors.
- (3) A copy of the minutes of every meeting of the executive committee of a subsidiary bank shall be forwarded 'to the State Bank and be laid before the Board of Directors of the subsidiary bank as soon as possible after the meeting.
- (4) Without prejudice to the powers of the executive committee, and subject to any regulations made under this Act, the Board of Directors of a subsidary bank may constitute such and so many other committees, whether consisting wholly of the directors or wholly or other persons, or partly of the directors and partly of other persons, as it deems fit, to exercise such powers and perform such duties as may, subject to such conditions, if any, as the Board of Directors may impose, the delegated to them by the Board of Directors.

CHAPTER 6

Business of Subsidiary Banks

36. Subsidiary bank to act as agent of the State Bank :-

- (1) A Subsidiary bank shall, if so required by the State Bank, act as agent of the State Bank at any place in India for-
- (2) Inserted by the State Bank Laws (Amendment) Act, 1973 (48

of 1973), S. 28 (1-7-1974).

- (a) paying, receiving collecting and remitting money, bullion and securities on behalf of any Government in India; and
- (b) undertaking and transacting any other business which the Reserve Bank may, from time to time, entrust to the State Bank.
- (2) The terms and conditions on which any such agency business shall be carried on by the subsidiary bank on behalf of the State Bank shall be such as may be determined by the State Bank, after consultation with the subsidiary bank and with the approval of the Reserve Bank.
- **1** [(3) (4) * * * * * * *]
- 1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

36A. Subsidiary bank to act as agent of the Reserve Bank :-

- (1) A subsidiary bank shall, if so required by the Reserve Bank, act as agent of the Reserve Bank at all places in India, where it has a branch, for-
- (a) paying, receiving collecting and remitting money, bullion and securities on behalf of any Government inindia; and
- (b) undertaking and transacting any other business which the Reserve Bank may from time to time entrust to it.
- (2) The terms and conditions on which any such agency business shall be carried on by the subsidiary bank on behalf of the Reserve Bank shall be such as may be agreed upon.
- (3) If, no agreement can be reached on any matter referred to in sub-sec. (2) or if a dispute arises between a subsidiary bank and the Reserve Bank as to the interpretation of any agreement between them, the matter shall be referred to the Central Government and the decision of the Central Government thereon shall be final.
- (4) A subsidiary bank may transact any business or perform any far date entrusted to it under sub-section (1), by itself or throught any agent approved by the Reserve Bank.

37. Other business which a subsidiary bank may transact :-

(1) Subject to the other provisions contained in this Act, a

subsidiary bank may carry on and transact the business of banking as defined in clause (b) of S.5 of the Banking Regulation Act, 1949, and may engage in one or more of the other forms of business specified in Section 21(1)of section 6 of that Act.]

- (2) The Central Government may, after consultation with the Reserve Bank and the State Bank, by order in writing-
- (a) authorise subsidiary bank to do such other forms of business as the Central Government may consider necessary or expedient:
- (b) direct that any from of business as is mentioned in the order shall be carried on subject to such restrictions, conditions and safeguards as may be specified therein: or
- (c) prohibit a subsidiary bank from carrying on or transacting any form of business which, but for this clause it is lawful for the subsidiary bank to engage.
- (3) Save as otherwise provided in sub-section (2), a subsidiary bank shall not engage in any from of business other than that referred to in sub-section (1).

38. Acquisition of business of other banks :-

- (1) A subsidiary bank may with the approval of the State Bank, and shall, if the Reserve Bank, in con-sultation with the State Bank, so directs, enter into negotiations for acquiring the business, including the assets liablities of any other banking institution.
- (2) The terms and conditions relating to such acquisition, if agreed upon by the Board of Directors of the subsidiary bank concerned and the directorate or management of the banking institution concerned and approved by the Reserve Bank, shall be submitted to the Central Government for its sanction and that Government may be order in writing (hereafter in this section referred to as the order of sanction) accord its sanction thereto.
- (3) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Act or any other law for the time being in force or any instrument regulating the constitution of the banking institution concerned, the terms and conditions as sanctioned by the Central Government shall come into effect on the date specified by the Central Government in this behalf in the order of sanction and be binding upon the subsidiary b ank and the banking institution concerned as upon the shareholders (or, as the case may be, proprietors) and creditors of

that banking institution.

- (4) If for any reason the terms and conditions cannot come into effect on the date specified in the order of sanction, the Central Government may fix another suitable date for that purpose.
- (5) On the date on which the terms and condition as aforesaid come into effect, the business and the assets and liabilities of the Banking institu- tion concerned is covered by the acquisition shall, by virtue, and in accordance with the provisions, of the order of sanction stand transferred to, and become respectively the business and the assets and liabilities of, the subsidiary bank concerned.
- (6) The consideration for the acquisition of the business and the assets and liabilities of any banking institution under this section may, if so agreed upon, be paid either in each or by allotment of shares in the capital of the subsidiary bank concerned or party in cash and partly by allotment of shares, and the subsidiary bank may, for the purpose of any such allotment increase, subject to the other provisions contained in this Act relating to the increase of capital, the capital of the subsidiary bank by the issue of such number of shares as may be determined by the subsidiary bank.
- (7) Any business acquired under this section shall thereafter by carried on by the subsidiary bank in accordance with the provisions of this Act subject to such exemptions or modifications, as the Central Government may, by notifications in the Official Gazette, make in this behalf in consultation with the Reserve Bank.-Provided that no such exemption or modification shall be made so as to have effect for a period of more than seven years from the date of acqisition.
- (8) Notwithstanding anything contained in the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947, or in any other law or in any agreement for the time being in force, on the acquisition of the business and the assets and liabilities of any banking institution under this section, no officer or other employee of that banking institution shall be entitled to any compensation to which he may be entitled under that Act or that other law or that agreement, and no claim respect of such compensation shall be entertained by any Court, tribunal or other authority if on his having accepted in writing an offer of employment by the subsidiary bank concerned on the terms and conditions proposed by it he has been employed in accordance with such terms and conditions.

- (9) The Central Government may, if it considers necessary or expedient in the case of any banking institution in relation to which an, order of sanc- tion has been made under this section, appoint, whether before or after the coming into effect of the terms and conditions relating to the business and the assets and liabilities of that banking institution, a suitable person to take over the management of that banking institution for the purposes of winding up its affairs and distributing its assets, and the expenditure incurred in connection with such management (including the remuneration of the person so appointed and his staff, if any shall be paid out of the assets of the banking institution or by the subsidiary bank concerned as the Central Government may direct.
- (10) Simultaneously with the appointment of a suitable person, under sub-section (9) or immediately thereafter, the Central Government shall issue directions to be followed by that person in the management of that banking institution for the purposes aforesaid and thereupon-
- (a) the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, or the Banking Com- panies Act, 1949, or any other law for the time being in force or any instrument having effect by virtue of any such Act or law, in so far as they are inconsistent with such directions, shall cease to apply to, or in relation to that banking institution:
- (b) all persons in charge of the management, any person holding office as manager or director of the banking institution, immediately before the issue of such directions shall be deemed to have vacated their offices as such and
- (c) the person appointed to take over the management of the banking institution shall, in accordance with those directions, take all such steps as may be necessary to facilitate the winding up of its affairs and the distribution of its assets.
- (11) The Central Government, when satisfied that nothing further remains to be done in order to wind up the affairs of the banking institution concerned may by order in writing, direct that as from such date as may be specified therein, the banking institution shall stand dissolved and thereupon any such direction shall have effect notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in any other law.
- (12) No action under this section shall be questioned on the ground merely of any defect in the constitution of any banking institution

in relation to which such action has been taken or in the constitution of its Board of Directors or in the appointment of any persons entrusted with the manage- ment of its affairs.

- (13) The provisions of this section shall apply in relation to the acquisi- tion by one subsidiary bank of the business, including the assets and liabilities of another subsidiary bank as they apply in relation to the acquistion by a subsidiary bank of the business, including the assets and liabilies, of any other banking institution.
- (14) In this section, "banking institution" includes any individual or any association of individuals (whether incorporated or not, or whether a department of Government or a separate institution), carrying on the business of banking.

38A. Arrangement with subsidiary banks on appointment of Director to prevail :-

- (1) Where any arragement entered into by a subsidiary bank with a company provides for the appointment by the subsidiary bank of one or more Directors of such company, such provision and any appointment of Directors made inpursuance thereof shall be valid and effective notwithstanding to the contrary contained in the Compaies Act, 1956, or in any other law for the time being in force or in the memorandum, articles of association or any other instrument relating to the company, and any provision regarding share qualification, age limit, number of directorships, removal from office of Directors and such like conditions contained in any such law or instrument aforesaid, shall not apply to any Director appointed by the subsidiary bank in pursuance of the arrangement as aforesaid.
- (2) Any Director appointed as aforesaid shall-
- (a) hold office during the pleasure of the subsidiary bank and may be removed or substituted by any person by order in writing of the subsidiary bank;
- (b) not incur any obligation or liability by reason only of his being a Director or for anything done or omitted to be done in the discharge of his duties as a Director or anything in relation thereto:
- (c) not be liable to retirement by rotation and shall not be taken into account for computing the number of Directors able to such retire- ment.]

39. Closing of annual accounts :-

A subsidiary bank shall its books to the closed and balanced [as] on the thirty-first day of December in each year.

40. Disposal of profits :-

- (1) After making provision for bad and doubt-ful debts, depreciation in assets, equalification of dividends, contribution to staff and superannuation funds and for all other matters for which provision is necessary by or under this Act or which are usally provided for by bank- ing companies, a subsidiary bank may, out of its net profits, declare a dividend.
- (2) The rate of dividend shall be determined by the Board of Directors of the subsidiary bank concerned.
- (3) Nothing in this section shall be deemed to preclude the payment of interim dividends in such manner and to such exsent as may be prescribed.

41. Audit :-

- (1) Subject to the provisions of section 42 , the accounts of a subsidiary bank shall be audited by an auditor duly qualified to act as an auditor of companies under S.226(1) of the Companies Act, 1956, who shall be appointed by the State Bank, with the approval of the Reserve Bank.
- (2) The auditor shall receive such remuneration as the State Bank may fix.
- (3) No director or officer of a subsidiary bank shall be eligible to be its auditor during his continuance in office as such director or officer.
- (4) The auditor shall be supplied with a copy of the annual balance sheet and profit and loss account, a list of all books kept by the subsidiary bank, and it shall be the duty of the auditor to examine the balance sheet and profit and loss account with the accounts and vouchers relating thereto, and in the performance of his duties, the auditor-
- (a) shall have, at all reasonable times, access to the books, accounts and other documents of that subsidiary bank:

- (b) may at the expense of that subsidiary bank, employ accountants and other persons to assist him in investigating such accounts; and
- (c) may, in relation to such accounts, examine any director or any officer of that subsidiary bank.
- (5) The auditor shall hold office for such term not exceeding one year as the State Bank may fix at the time of his appointment: and if any vacancy arises before the expiry of the term of an auditor, the vacancy may be filled by the State Bank, with the approval of the Reserve Bank.
- (6) The auditor shall no relinquishing office be eligible for reappointment.
- (7) The auditor shall make a report to the State Bank upon the annual balance-sheet and accounts of the subsidiary bank, and, in every such report, he shall state-
- (a) whether, in his opinion, the balance sheet is a full and fair balance sheet containing all the necessary particulars and is properly drawn up so as to 1 [exhibit a true and fair viewj of the affairs of that subsidiary bank, and in case he has called for any explanation or information, whether it has been given and whether it is satisfactory;
- (b) whether or not the transactions of that subsidiary bank which have come to his notice have been within the competence of the bank;
- (c) whether or not the return received from the offices and branches of that subsidiary bank have been found adequate for the purpose of his audit;
- (d) whether the profit and loss account shows a true balance of profit or loss for the period covered by such account; and
- (e) any other matter which he considers should be brought to the notice of the State Bank,

[Explanation 1.-For the purposes of this Act,-

- (a) the balance-sheet shall not be treated as not disclosing a true and fair view of the affairs of the subsidiary Bank, and
- (b) the profit and loss account shall not be treated as not showing

a true balance of profit or loss for the period covered by such account,

Explanation 2.-For the purposes of this Act, the account of the subsidiary bank shall not be deemed as having not been properly drawn up on the ground merely that they do not disclose certain matters if-

- (i) those matters are such as the subsidiary bank is, by virtue of any provi- sion contained in the Banking Regulation Act, 1949, read with the relev- ant provisions of this Act, not required to disclose, and
- (ii) the provisions referred to in clause (i) are specified in the blance-sheet and profit and loss account of the subsidiary bank or in the auditor's report]
- (8) The auditor shall forward a copy of the audit report to the subsidiary bank and to the Central Government.
- (9) Without prejudice to the foregoing provisions, the Central Government may, any time, appoint such number of auditors as it thinks fit to examine and report on the accounts of a subsidiary bank, and the auditors so appointed shall have all the rights, privileges and authority in relation to the audit of the accounts of the subsidiary bank which an auditor appointed by the State Bank has under this section.
- 1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

42. Temporary provision regarding existing auditors :-

If on the appointed day, any appointment of an auditor made by, or in respect of, an existing bank, the Hyderabad Bank or the Saurashtra Bank, as the case may be, is subsisting, the State Bank may, on or after such day, either confirm the appointment in accorda- nce with the provisions of this Act, subject to such modifications of the terms and conditions of the appointment, as it may deem necessary, or terminate the appointment, and may, if it so terminates, the appointment, fix such remuneration as appears to it to bereasonable having regard to the work already done, functions discharged, or duties performed by the auditor concerned.

43. Returns to be furnished by a subsidiary bank :-

(1) A subsidiary bank shall furnish to the State Bank $^{\mathbf{1}}$ [the Reserve Bank and the Central Government]-

- (a)[within three months from the 31st day of December as on which its books are closed and balanced], its balance-sheet, together with the profit and loss account and the auditor's report, and a report by the Board of Directors on the working 1[and activities] of the subsidiary Bank during the period covered by the account; and
- (b) any other information relating to affairs and business of the subsidiary bank which the State Bank or the Reserve Bank may require. ¹ [Provided that the Reserve Bank may, after consultation with the State Bank, extend the said period of three months by such further period not exceeding three months, as it may think fit.]
- (2) The balance sheet and the profit and loss account of a subsidiary bank shall be signed by the general manager and a majority of the director of the sub- sidiary bank.
- [(3) The Central Government shall cause the auditor's report and the report by the Board of Directors on the working activities of the subsidiary bank to be laid, as soon as may be after they are received, before each House of Parlia- ment, while it is in sessions, for a total period of a thirty days which may be comprised in one session or in two or more successive sessions.]
- 1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

44. General meetings :-

- (1) A general meeting (hereinafter referred to as an annual general meeting) of a subsidiary bank shall be held [in each year] at the place where the head office of the subsidiary bank is situate, and any other general meeting may be convened by the Board of Directors at any time. [Provided that such annual general meeting shall be held before the expiry of six weeks from the date on which the balance-sheet, together with the profit and loss account and auditors' report is under Section 43(1), forwarded to [the State Bank, the Reserve Bank or the Central Government], whichever date is earlier.]
- (2) The shareholders present at an annual general meeting shall be entitled to discuss the balance sheet and profit and loss account of the bank concerned, made up to the previous 31st day of December, the report of the Boards of Directors on the working [and activities] of that bank for the period covered by the accounts

and the auditors' report on the balance sheet and accounts.

(3) Nothing contained in this section relating to an annual general meeting shall apply in relation to a subsidiary bank, if. as on the previous 31st day of December, all the shares in the issued capital of that bank are held by the State Bank.

CHAPTER 8
Miscellaneous

45. Power to issue directions for removing difficulties :-

For the purpose of facilitating the full and effective transfer of the undertaking of an existing bank in accordance with the provisions of this Act, or in order to remove any difficulty which in the opinion of the Central Government has arisen or is likely to arise in connection with such transfer, the Central Government may, in consultation with the Reserve Bank, given such directions to any existing bank or the State Bank as appear to it to be necessary and the said bank for the State Bank, as the case may be, shall comply with such directions.

46. Observes for existing banks and the Sanrashtsa Bank :-

- (1) The State Bank may, in relation to any existing bank or the Saurashtra Bank, at any time before the appointed day,-
- (a) depute one or more persons to which the proceedings at any meeting of the Board of Directors, any committee or other body of the bank, require the bank to give an opportunity to the person or persons so deputed to be heard at such meetings and also require such person or persons to send a report of such proceedings to the State Bank;
- (b) require the Board of Directors, any committee or other body of the bank to give in writing to any person specified by the State Bank in this behalf, at his usual address, all notices of, and other communications relating to, any meeting of the Board, committee or other body, as the case may be;
- (c) appoint one or more persons to observe the manner in which the affairs of the bank or of its offices or branches are being conducted and make a report thereon; and
- (d) require the bank to furnish the State Bank, within such time as may be specified by the State Bank, with any statement or information relating to the business or affairs of the bank including

copies of the proceedings of any meeting of the Board of Directors, any committee or other body, of the bank.

(2) If a person deputed by the State Bank to watch the proceedings of any meeting of the Board of Directors, any committee or other body, as the case may be, gives notice in writing to the bank that such person considers that any action, step or proceeding proposed to be taken or carried out by the bank will be detri- mental to the State Bank or to the bank itself, such action, step or proceeding shall not be taken or carried out by the bank unless and until the State Bank approves in writing of such action, step or proceeding.

Explanation.-For the purposes of this section, "Board of Directors" in relation to the Saurashtra Bank, means its Board of Management.

47. Inspection :-

- (1) Without prejudice to the other provisions contained in the Act, the State Bank may, at any tims, cause an inspection to be made by one or more of its officers of any existing bank, a new bank, the Hyderabad Bank or the Saurashtra Bank.
- (2) It shall be the duty of every person who is or has at any time been a director, officer or other employee of a bank which is inspected made sub-sec- tion (1), to produce to any officer making the inspection, all such balances, books, accounts, securities and other documents in his custody or power and to furnish the said officer with any statements and information relating to the affairs of the bank as the said officer may require of him within such time as the said officer may specify.

(3) If any person-

- (a) falls, within the stipulated time, to produce any balance book, account, securities or other document or to furnish any statement or information which under sub-section (2) it is his duty to produce or furnish, or to answer any question relating to the business of the bank under inspection which is asked by an officer making the inspection, or
- (b) in any document or information required or furnished or while answer- ring any question put to him, wilfully makes a statement which is false in any material particular, knowing it to be false, or

wilfully omits to make a material statement,

48. Cost of development programme :-

- (1) A subsidiary bank may accept any subsidies offered by the State Bank to meet-
- (a) the cost of the whole or any part of any specific programme of develop- ment undertaken by that subsidiary bank with the approval of the State Bank; and
- (b) such losses or expenditure as may be approved by the State Bank, with the consent of the Reserve Bank.
- (2) For the purposes of the Indian Income-tax Act, 1922, any subsidy recei- ved by a subsidiary bank under sub-section (1) shall not be treated as income, profits or gains of the subsidiary bank.

<u>49.</u> Special provisions regarding existing officers and employees:-

- (1) Not- withstanding anything contained in any of the other provisions of this Act, or in any other law or in any contract of service or other document, no appointment made or promotion, increment in salary, pension or allowance or any other benefit granted to any person by an existing bank or the Saurashtra Bank after the 10th day of Feb. 1958, and before the appointed day, which would ordinarily have been made or granted or which would not ordinarily have been admissible under the rules authorisations of the said bank or of any provident, pension or other fund in force before the 10th day of February, 1958, shall have effect or be payable or claimable from the subsidiary bank concerned, or from any provident, pension or other fund or from any authority administering any such fund. unless the State Bank has with the approval of the Reserve Bank, by a general or special order confirmed the appointment, promotion or increment or has directed the grant of the pension, allowance or other benefit, as the case may be.
- (2) Where any officer or other employee of an existing bank or of the Sau- rashtra Bank has received any amount by reason of such appointment, promotion or increment or any such pension, allowance or other benefit as is referred to in sub-section (1), which has not been confirmed or sanctioned by the State Bank under that sub-section, such officer or other employee shall be bound to

refund such amount to the subsidiary bank concerned, and that bank shall be entitled to take all such steps as may be necessary for recovering such amount.

- (3) Where any managing director, general manager or manager, deputy managing director or deputy general manager or other employee of an existing bank or the Saurashtra Bank has, after the 10th day of February, 1958, and be- fore the appointed day, been paid any sum by way of compensation or gratuity, the subsidiary bank concerned shall be entitled to claim a refund of any sum so paid if the payment is not confirmed by the State Bank by a general or special order.
- (4) Nothing in this section shall apply to, or in relation to any officer or other employee of the Bank of Patiala, who does not become an officer or other employee of the State Bank of Patiala under the provisions of section II.

50. Staff of a subsidiary bank :-

- (1) A subsidiary bank may, subject to such limitations and conditions as may be prescribed, appoint such number of officers, advisers and employee as it considers necessary or desirable for the efficient per- formance of its functions and on such terms and conditions as it may deem fit.
- (2) For the removal of doubts, it is hereby declared that the officers, advisers and employees of a subsidiary bank, in whatever capacity engaged, shall not be deemed to be officers, advisers or employees of the State Bank for any purpose, unless otherwise provided in the contract or agreement of service of any such officer, adviser or employee.

51. Establishment of pension and superannuation funds by subsidiary banks :-

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in any olherlaw for the time bing in force, a subsidiary bank may establish and maintain superannuation, pen- sion, provident or other funds for the benefit of its officers or employees or the dependants of such officers or employees or for the purposes of the subsidiary bank, and grant superannuation allowances, annuities and pensions payable out of any such fund.

<u>52.</u> Obligation as to fidelity and secrecy :-

- (1) A subsidiary bank shall observe, except as otherwise required by law, the practices and usages customary among bankers, and in particular, it shall not divulge any information relating to, or to the affairs of its constituents except in circumstances in which it is, in accordance with the law or practice and usage customary among bankers, necessary or appropriate for that bank to divulge such information.
- (2) Every director, auditor, adviser, officer or other employee of a subsidiary bank shall, before entering upon his duties, make a declaration of fidelity and secrecy as in the form set out in the Second Schedule: Provided that any declaration made under S.35(2) of the State Bank of Hyderabad Act shall be deemed to be declaration made to the Hyderabad Bank under this sub-section.
- ⁵² '(3) Nothing contained in this section shall apply to the credit information disclosed ^|ferthe Credit Information Companies (Regulation) Act, 2005.".

In the STATE BANK OF INDIA (SUBSIDIARY BANKS) ACT, 1959 (38 OF 1959), In Section 52, sub-section (3), shall be inserted as follows: '(3) Nothing contained in this section shall apply to the credit information disclosed ^|ferthe Credit Information Companies (Regulation) Act, 2005.". by the Credit Information Companies (Regulation) Act, 2005.

53. Indemnity of directors :-

- (1) Every director of a subsidiary bank shall be indemnified by that bank against all losses and expenses incurred by him in, or in relation to, the discharge of his duties except such as are caused by his own wilful act or default.
- (2) A director of a subsidiary bank shall not be responsible for any loss or expense caused to the bank by the insufficiency or deficiency of the value of, or title to, any property or security acquired or taken on behalf of the bank or by the insolvency or wrongful act of any customer or debtor or by anything done in, or in relation to, the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise than for his wilful act or default.
- (3) Where the State Bank nominates any of its officers as director of a subsidiary bank, such director shall not incur any obligation or liability by reason only of his being a director or for anything done or omitted to be done in good faith in the discharge of his duties as director or anything in, relation thereto.]

<u>54.</u> Defects in appointment or constitution not to invalidate acts or proceedings :-

- (1) Not act or proceeding of the Board of Directors of a subsidiary bank shall be questioned on the ground merely of the existence of any vacancy in, or defect in the constitution of, the Board.
- (2) All acts done by any person acting in good faith as a director of a subsi- diary bank shall, notwithstanding that he was disqualified to be a director or that there was any other defect in his appointment, be deemed to be valid.

55. Companies Act, 1956, and Banking Companies Act, 1949, not to apply to certain existing banks:

Subject to the provision of this Act and unless the Central Government by notification in the Official Gazette, otherwise directs, on and from the appointed day, the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, and the Banking Companies Act, 1949, shall not apply to an existing bank, in so far as the said provisions impose any obligation on, or require anything to be done by, any such bank.

<u>56.</u> Continuance of special provisions respecting recovery of loans and advances made by the Bank of Patiala and the State Bank of Saurashtra:

The State Bank of Patiala and the Saurashtra Bank shall be entitled to recover in the same manner as an arrear of land revenue any moneys due in respect of loans or advances made before the appointed day by the Bank of Patiala or the Saurashtra Bank, as the case may be and, the provisions of any law relating to such recovery as were applicable to that Bank before the appointed day shall continue to apply to the State Bank of Patiala or the Saurashtra Bank, as the case may be, in respect of such recovery after the appointed day.

57. Bar to liquidation of a subsidiary bank :-

No provision of law reating to the winding up of companies shall apply to a subsidiary bank nor shall it be placed in liquidation, save as provided in this Act or by order of the Central Government and in such manner as the Central Government may direct.

58. Dissolution of existing banks :-

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Act or in any other law for the time being in force or in any contract or other instrument, an existing bank shall, on such date as the Central Govern- ment may, by notification in the Official Gazette, specify in this behalf, stand dissolved. **1**

1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

59. Construction of reference to existing banks :-

- (1) For the purposes of section 45, regulation 49, regulation 55, regulation 58, and the First Schedule, the expression "exisiting bank" shall include the Bank of Jaipur Limited.
- (2) Except as otherwise provided in any general or special order made by the Central Government, any reference in any law, other than this Act, or in any contract or other instrument-
- (a) to an existing bank, shall be construed as a reference to the corres- ponding new bank;
- (b) to the Bank of Jaipur Limited shall be construed as a reference to the State Bank of Bikaner.)

<u>60.</u> Exercise of powers and functions on behalf of the Reserve Bank:-

Any powers, duties or functions conferred, imposed or entrusted by this Act on, or to, the Reseive Bank, shall be exercised or performed by the Governor of the Reserve Bank or, in his absence, by a Deputy Governor nominated under s.7(3) of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934, or by such officer or officers of the Reserve Bank' in respect of such matters and subject to such conditions and limitations as. the Governor of the Reserve Bank may specify.

61. Protection of action taken under Act :-

- (1) No suit or other legal proceeding shall lie against the Central Government, the Reserve Bank or the State Bank or any officer of the Central Government, the Reserve Bank or the State Bank for any damage caused or likely to be caused by anything which is in good faith done or intended to be done in pursuance of this Act.
- (2) No person shall have any right, whether in contract or otherwise to any compensation for any loss incurred or any damage caused by reason of the operation of, or anything done in pursuance of, the provisions contained in section 46 and regulation 47.

62. Power of Central Government to make rules :-

(1) The Central Government may, by notification in the Official

- Gazette, ¹[make rules2 to provide for all matters for which provision is necessary or expedient for the purpose of giving effect to the provisions of this Act].
- (2) In particular, and without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing power, such rules may provide for-
- (a) the terms and conditions of service of the Chairman, members and staff of the Tribunal;
- (b) the manner of, and the procedure for, payment of compensation (includ- ing allotment of shares in lieu of compensation) under this Act, including the requirements subject to which the payment shall be made;
- (c) the determination of the persons to whom compensation shall be payable in all cases including cases where shares have been held by more than one person, or where they have been transferred before the appointed day, but the transfer has not been registered, or where the shareholder is dead;
- (d) the circumstances under which claims for payment of the said com- pensation from persons claiming through or under a shareholder may be entertained;
- (e) the requirements to be complied with before receipt of the said compensation by a shareholder, whose share certificate has been lost destroyed, mutilated or stolen;
- (f) the requirements subject to which information regarding the payment of the said compensation may be granted or refused and the conditions subject to which such information may be given.
- ¹ [(g) the manner of appointment of a director under clause (ca) or clause (cb) of Section 25(1), and all other matters connected therewith or incidental thereto.
- [(3) Every rule made under this section shall be laid, as soon as may be after it is made, before each House of Parliament, while it is in session, for a total period of thirty days, which may be comprised in one session or in two or more successive sessions, and if, before the expiry of the session immediately following the session or the successive session aforesaid, both Houses agree in making any modification in the rule or both Houses agree that the rule should not be made, the rule shall thereafter have effect only in such modified form or be of no effect, as the case may be: so, however,

that any such modi- fication or annulment shall be without prejudice to the validity of anything previously done under that rule.]

1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

63. Power of the State Bank to make regnlat ions :-

- (1) The State Bank may, with the approval of the Reserve Bank, make in respect of a subsidiary bank regulations, not inconsistent with this Act and the rules made thereunder, to provide for all matters for which provision is necessary of expedient for the purpose of giving effect to the provisions of this Act.
- (2) In particular, and without prejudice to the generality of the fore- going power, such regulations may provide for-
- (a) the powers and duties of the general manager of the subsidiary bank;
- (b) the fees and allowances which may be paid to directors or others for attending any meetings of the Board of Directors or of its com- mittees (including the executive committee) or other committees or for attending to any other work of the subsidiary bank:
- (c) the time and place at which, and the manner in which, the business of the Board of Directors of the subsidiary bank shall be transacted and the procedure to be followed at the meeting thereof:
- (d) the constitution of the executive committee of the subsidiary bank and the conditions and limitations subject to which the executive committee may exercise its powers and the procedure to be followed at the meetings thereof:
- (e) the formation of any other committees, whether of the Board of Directors of any subsidiary bank or otherwise, and the delegation of powers and functions of the Board to such committees and the conduct of business in such committees;
- (f) the nature of shares of the subsidiary bank, the manner in which and the conditions subject to which, shares may be held and transferred and generally all matters relating to the rights and duties of shareholders.
- (g) the maintenance of share register, and the particulars to be

entered in such registers in addition to those specified in section 21 , the inspec- tion and closure of the registers arid all other matters connected there- with.

- (h) the holding and conduct of elections under this Act and the final determination of doubts or disputes regarding the qualifications of candidates for election or regarding the validity of elections;
- (i) the manner in which general meeting shall be convened, the proce- dure to be followed thereat and the manner in which voting rights may be exercised;
- (j) the manner in which notes may be served on behalf of the subsi- diary bank upon shareholders or other persons;
- (k) the payment of dividents, including interim dividends;
- (I) the delegation of powers and functions of the Board of Directors of the subsidiary bank to the general manager or directors or officers or other employees of that bank;
- (m) the conditions and limitations subject to which the subsidiary bank may appoint officers, advisers and other employees and fix their remu- neration and other terms and conditions of service;
- (n) the duties and conduct of officers, advisers and other employees of the subsidiary bank;
- (o) the establishment and maintenance of superannuation, pension, pro- vident or other funds for the benefit of the officers or employees of the subsidiary bank or of the dependants of such officers or emp- loyer or for the purposes of the subsidiary bank, and the granting of superannuation allowances, annuities and pensions payable out of any such fund;
- (p) the conduct and defence of legal proceedings by or against the sub- diary bank and the manner of signing pleadings;
- (q) the provision of a seal for the subsidiary' bank and the manner and effect of its use;
- (r) the form and manner in which contracts binding on the subsidiary bank may be executed;
- (s) the conditions and requirements subject to which loans or advances may be made or bills may be discounted or purchased by the subsidi- ary bank;

- (t) the conditions subject to which loans or advances made by the subsidiary bank to its directors or officers or the relatives of such directors or officers or to companies, firms or individuals with which or with whom such directors or officers or relatives are connected as partners, directors, managers, servants, shareholders or otherwise;
- (u) the persons or authorities who shall administer any pension, provi- dent or other fund constituted for the benefit of the officers or emp- loyees of the subsidiary bank or their dependants for the purposes of that bank;
- (v) the circumstances in which the specific approval of the State Bank shall be required to the grant of loans and advances or investment of funds by the subsidiary by bank or to any contract, arrangement or proposal entered into or proposed to be entered into by the subsidiary bank,
- (w) the preparation and submission to the State Bank and the Reserve Bank of statements of programmes of activities and financial state- ments of the subsidiary bank and the periods for which, and the time within which such statements and estimates are to be prepared and submitted;
- (x) the person or persons in the State Bank by whom any powers, duties or functions conferred, imposed or entrusted on or to the State Bank under this Act may be exercised or performed;
- (y) generally, for the efficient conduct of the affairs of the subsidiary bank.
- ¹ [(2A) [All regulations made under this section shall have effect from such earlier or later date as may be specified in the regulations.]
- (3) All regulations under this section, except the first regulations, shall be made in consultation with the Board of Directors of the subsidiary concerned.
- [(4) Every regulation shall, as soon as may be after it is made under this Act by the State Bank, be forwarded to the Central Government and that Government shall cause a copy of the same to be laid before each House of Parliament, while it is in session, for a total period of thirty days, which may be comprised in one session or in two or more successive sessions, and, if before the expiry of the session immediately following the session or the

successive sessions aforesaid, both Houses agrees in making any modification in the regulation or both Houses agree that the regulation should not be made, the regulation shall thereafter have effect only in such modified form or be of no effect, as the case may be; so, however, that any such modification or annulment shall be without prejudice to the validity of anything previously done under that regulation.]

- (3) Where the State Bank of Bikaner and Jaipur, under S. 63 framed regulations for the placement of officers Grade I in Middle Management Grade II and the criculars issued thereunder stipulated that officers promoted before 1-10-1975 were not required to appear for interview for placement while those promoted after 1-10-1975 were required to appear for selection, the circulars stipulating the above conditions were violative of Art. 14 and Art. 16 of Constitution.
- 1. Ins. by Resn.C.B.S.B.I. dated 25-2-1977 (w.e.f. 1-3-1977).

64. Amendment of certain enactments :-

Repealed by Repealing and Amending Act, 1964 (52 of 1964), S. 2 and Sch. 1 (29-12-1964.]

65. Saving :-

Nothing in this Act shall be deemed to affect the provisions of section 35 of the State Bank of India Act, 1955.

SCHEDULE 1
THE FIRST SCHEDULE

(see section 13 and regulation 14) Principles Of Compensation 1. A. The compensation to be given by the State Bank shall, in the case of the Hyderabed Bank the Bank of Patiala or the Saurashtra Bank, be an amount equal to the value of the assets of that bank as on the day immediately before the appointed day, computed in accordance with the provisions of Part I of this paragraph less the total amount of liabilities there of computed in accordance with the provisions of Part II of this paragraph. B. The total compensation to be given by the State Bank in respect of the transfer of the shares in the capital of the existing banks, other than the Bank of Patiala to the persons (including any State Government) who, immediately before the appointed day, are registered as holders of shares in the books of each of these banks shall, in each case, be an amount equal to the value of the assets of that bank as on the day immediately preceding the appointed day in relation to the corresponding new bank, computed in accordance with the provisions of Part I of this paragraph Jess the total amount of liabilities thereof computed in accordance with the provisions of Part II of this paragraph. PART Assets For the purposes of this paragraph, assets means the total of the follow- ing:- (a) the amount of cash in hand and with the Reserve Bank and the State Bank (including foreign currency notes which shall be converted at the market rate of exchange). (b) the amount of

balances with any other bank, not being the Reserve bank or the State bank, whether on deposit or current account, and money at call and short notice, balances held outside India being converted at the market rate of exchange: Provided that any balances which are not realisable in full shall be deemed to be debts and valued accordingly. (c) the market value as on the appointed day of any securities, shares, debentures, bonds and other investments, held by the bank concerned Explanation. For the purposes of this clause.- (i) securities of the Central and State Governments (other than securities specified in sub-clauses (ii) and (iii) of this Explanation) maturing for redemption within five years from the appointed day shall be valued at the face value or the market value whichever is higher; (ii) securities of the Central Government, such as Post Office Certificates and Treasury Savings Deposit Certificates and any other securities or certificates issued or to be issued under the the Small Savings Scheme of the Central Government, shall be valued at their face value or the encashable value as on the appointed day, whichever is higher; (iii) where the market value of any Government security such as the zamindari abolition bouds or other similar security in respect of which the principal is payable in instalments, is not ascertainable or is, for any reason, not considered as reflecting the fair value thereof or as otherwise appropriate, the security shall be valued at such an amount as is considered reasonable having regard to the instalments of principal and interest remaining to be paid, the period during which such instalments are payable, the yield of any security, issued by the Government to which the security pertains and having the same or approximately the same maturity, and other relevant factors; (iv) where the market value of any security, share, debenture, bond or other investment is not considered reasonable by reason of its' having been affected by abnormal factors, the investment may be valued on the basis of its average market value over any reasonable period; (v) where the market value of any security, share, debenture, bond or other investment is not ascertainable, only such value, if any, shall be taken into account as is considered reasonable having regard to the financial position of the issuing concern, the dividend paid by it during the preceding five years and other relevant factors; (d) the amount of advances (including loans, cash credits, overdrafts, bills purchased and discounted), and other debts, whether secured or unsecured, to the extent to which they are reasonably considered recoverable, having regard to the value of the security, if any, the operations on the account, the reported worth and respectability of the borrower, the prospects of realisation and other relevant considerations; (e) the market value of any land or buildings; (f) the total amount of the premia paid, in respect of all leasehold properties, reduced in the case of each such premium by an amount which bears to such premium the same proportion as the expired term of the lease in respect of which such premium shall have been paid bears to the total term of the lease; (q) the written down value as per books, or the realisable value, as may be considered reasonable, of all furniture, fixtures and fittings; (h) the market or realisable value, as may be appropriate, of other assets appearing on the books of the bank, no value being allowed for capitalised expenses, such as share selling commission, organisational expenses and brokerage, losses incurred and similar other items, PART II Liabilities For the purposes of this paragraph, "liabilities" means the total amount of all outside liabilities existing on the appointed day and all contingent liabilities which the subsidiary bank concerned may reasonably be expected to be required to meet out of its own resources on or after the appointed day. Compensation Payable To Shareholders 2. Every shareholder of an existing bank other than the Bank of Patiala shall be given such amount as compensation as bears to the total

compensat- ion, in respect of each of the said banks calculated in accordance with the provisions of paragraph I, the same proportion as the amount of the paid- up capital of the share held by the shareholder bears to the total paid up capital of that bank. Certain Dividends not to be Taken Into Account 3. No separate compensation shall be payable for any profits or any dividend in respect of any period immediately preceding the appointed day for which, in the ordinary course, profits would have been transferred or dividend declared after the appointed day.

SCHEDULE 2

THE SECOND SCHEDULE

SCHEDULE 3

THE THIRD SCHEDULE

(section 64) Amendmends to ceratain enactments.-[Repealed by the Repealing and Amending Act, 1964(52 of 1964), S. 2 and Sch. 1 (29-12-1964).]